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Matloff: This 1is part twe of an oral history intervievw held with Gensral
Matthew B. Ridgway at his home in Fox Chapel, Pittsburgh, on April 19,
1984. Representing the OSD historical program, a8 In the first part, is
Dr. Maurice Matloff.

General, I'd like to continue our discussion of your role as Army
Chief of Staff, in which you served during the period 1953 to 1955, and
begin by talking about relationships with various sectors of the OSD,
What were your relationships with Secretary of Defense Wilson? Then we
will go on to the two Deputy Secretaries during your tenure, Roger Kyes
and Robert Andervson.

Ridgway: My relations with Secretary Wilson were anything but pleasant.
Mr. Wilson came in with an extenslve ignorance of the mnilitary establigh~
ment and & well-established dislike for the Army. He openly critielzed
the Army for poor performance in World War II. But, most of all, he was
one of these gentlemen who have made up thelr minds and do not want to
listen to facts. On frequent occasions I would go to him on a problem

of major Importamnce, that I had coordinated with Secretary of the Army
Stevens, and find him looking out the window, drumming his fingers on

the table, and paying no attention whatever. On one occasion Mr. Stevens
went with me, and, as we were leaving, he addressed us asp "you men,” as
he might well have some employees in a factory. WNelther of us made any
comment but his whole attitude was not lost on us at all. My dealings
with Ropger Kyes were not very frequent, but he was the bullying type,

a2 man of impressive physique and, I guess, equally impressive
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business record. His vhole attitude was to overawe a military man who
came to him with problems. My relations with Bob Anderson were most
pleasant. Here wag a gentleman of the first order, who would listen
patiently and attentively to anything you had to say, and give it full
considexration and a reasonable response.

Matloff: Dld you have many deelings with other top 08D officials, for
example, Comptroller Wilfrad McHell?

Ridgway: No, very little. Our Comptroller, General Decker, rendered
such an outetanding performance that the congresgional committees before
whom he frequently appeared gave him a very high tribute orally when he
was leaving the service to retire.

Matloff: How close was the top 08D leadership, Wilson, for example, with
the JC8? Were there frequent meetlngs? Did ha sit down with them?
Ridpgway: I don't recall that Mr. Wilson ever attended a session of the
Joint Chiefs of 8taff, nor do I belleve that HRoger Kyes did. I'm not
quite sure aboutr Mr. Anderson. It would have been his nature to do =o,
but I don't recall sessions where he was prepent. That was gquite di{ffer~
ent from the dave of Secretary of State Acheson, who frequently sar in
with ue, and to the best of my recollection, so too did Secretary Lovett.
Matloff: How about your relations with other members of the Joint Chiefs
of Staff and its Chalrman, Admiral Radford? WUere there any differences
between yvou and the other Chiefs?

Ridgway: Very much so, between me and Admiral Radford. He had a very

one—track mind. When he came to some concluelon, he would pursue that to
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the ultimate conclusion, "in wmitigated act,” as Kipling said. I think
that he felt stromgly that the defense of the United States in the years
ahead devolved primarily on alr and sea power, and therefore the Army
could be drastically reduced. He so recommended at one time., That
should be in a document In the files of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. As a
result, Mr. Wilson apparently had great confidence imn him and I think chat
he accepted Radford's views most of the time. Ag I recall it, Radford
came béck with Eisenhower and Dulles, when BEisenhower went to Korea after
his election hut before he became president. Apparently Radford VETY
much impressed Eisenhower, to the point where he chose him to be the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs. My relations wirh the other membarsz of

the camp were most cordial. We never had any troubles. We had strong
disagreements, which we aired orelly in the meetings of the Joint Chiefs
of Staff. But my views and Radford’s wera generally guite different.
Later on, when the Vietnam war came on, he was strongly in favor of using
the A~bomb there and I was strongly opposed to it. My other colleagues
on the Jolnt Chiefs, Carney of the Navy, Twining of the Aly Fo}ca and, I
think, Shepherd of the Marine Corps, were all pratty much of my point of
view.

Matloff: How much time did you find you had to spend on the JCB buslness?
Bidgway: A great deal. We had the Indochina problem coming up, and the
French were pressing the United States government to Intervene there in
various ways. They had been pressing for money for a long time and Lhey

got a rather large amount. Then they wanted us to take over the training,
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and we did that. Finally, when the siege of Dien Bilen Phu wes on, they
supparted Radford's point of view of usimg the A-bomb.
Matloff: Whom did the Secretary of Defense back when there were split
lssues in the Joint Chiefs of Staff? Did he usually go with the Chairman?
Ridpway: Yes, generally speaking.
Matloff: Was there a deep achism in the Jolnt Chiefes over massive retali-
ation, by the time you got to 1955? Was the feeling rather strong about
the pros and the cons?
Ridgway: Yes, I would say so. I think Carney and I thought pretty much
alike. He could correct me on this, but I think he and I were pretty
mach in accord, and, to a considerable degree, Nate Twining, too. My
only strong differences of view--and they were honest views, I'm sure,
on both sldes—were with Radford. We were unot hesitant in expresglng our
opinions. Bo there was a very strong divergence of view there throughout
most of my two years between Radford and me.
Matloff: About relatioms with Congress——how did you handle the problem
when you had to appear before congressional committees, when your original
view differed from that of the position taken by the Secretary of Defense
or the Chalrman of the Jolnt Chiefs of Staff?
Ridpway: 1T can only recall clearly now-—and all these things should be
checked by documents, which I think still ezxist——when I was a witness
before a joint session of two committees of the Senate-—Foreign Reletions
and Armed Forces. It was chaired by Walter George of Georgia. It was a
most Impressive occasion, and I can't now give you the substance exact in
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detail, but Senator George said to me, "General, we want your frank opln-
ions.” T replied, “Senator, you shall have them. To whatever degree

the other memwbers of the Joint Chiefs agree (all of vwhom were present

there at this meeting), they're here in presence and you can ask them,

but my views follow." I told him exactly what my views were and I think
the receptilon that joint committee gave me was very satisfying.

Matloff: Let's touch oo the MeCarthy hearings Just a bit. You mentioned
that Army Secretary Stevens became involved with the McCarthy hearings.

Did that involvement in any way complicate your dealings with Congress?
Ridgway: WNo, I don't think so.

Matloff: You weren't drawn in in any way?

Rldgway: No, I wasn't.

Matloff: How about the impact of those hearings on Army morale during

that period?

Ridgway: I couldn't answer that guestion. I know that the lmpact parson—
ally on Secretary Stevens must have bean very deep, because he was a man

of the highest principles and integrity dealing with a character of quite
opposite personal traitse.

Matloff: Let's talk somewhat about the relations with President FEisenhower.
How did President Eisenhower conceive of your role as a member of the Joint
Chiefs versus that of the Army Chief of Staff in Importance? Did vou sense
any feeling on his part as to what the relative Importance of those roles

were?
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Ridgway: No, I don't believe so. The President was very genercus in
listening to my views at any time. 4s a wmatter of fact, he asked me to
present the results of that miseion I sent over to Indochina, to examine
the state on the ground and come back and report. I made a personal
report to him, first alonme, and then before the Nationsal Security Council.
Matloff: Waes this in 1954, at the time of Dien Bien Phu?

RBidgway: I'm not sure of the timing.

Matloff: Still on relations with the President, did you find Eisenhower
as commander in chief impartial? Did he favor his old service, or did he
lean over backwards in other directions?

Ridpgway: My recollectlon would be that in order to appear completely
impartial, he rather leaned over backwards not in favor of the Army. He
didn't want to be accused of partiality toward his former service. 1
think that the opinlons of others would bear that out.

Matloff: Did he ever seek your advice on other than purely Army lssues?
Ridgway: Milltary issues broader than the Army, yes.

Matloff: You mentioned that mission. Do you recall any other examples
where he might have done that?

Ridgway: HNo, I don't.

Matloff: %What were Eisenhower's views in connection with aplie JCS
papers? Do you reall his ventilating any feelings about not wanting
split papers, that he wanted a unanimoua or some kind of agreed upon

position?
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Ridgway: I referred yesterday to that meeting when the President came
down to speak to the Joint Chiefs, then newly installed in of fice, at
Quantico, and General Bradley, the former Chalrman of the Joint Chiefs,
was also present. Pisenhower in his informal off-the-cuff manner said,
in substance, "You new Chiefs get together and thrash these things out
and come to agreement, and present me with agreed papers.” This was when
I went to Bradley, whom I knew so intimately, and said, “"Brad, I'm dis-
turbed about this because, rightly or wrongly, I get the impression that
the President is saying that he wants 'yes' men around him. When stroug
men get together, as these all are on the Joint Chiefs, there are bound
to be fundamental disagreements sometimes, and they cannot bhe reconciled.
They should go forward in that manner. This is the province of the civil—
ian superiors. They have got to make the deeision.” I don't recall

what Bradley's answer was, but I cite that as an example of oy first real
encounter with the President. Just after I came back from the European
command; the Presldent invited me over to the White House far breakfast,
just the two of us« T don't recall the topies of our conversation, but I
asgume that we went over my service with NATD, because he had lefr that
post himself shortly before. It was a very pleasant breskfast, and I'm
sure that we ranged over the whole world asituation.

Matloff: Did you have direct access to him once vou were in the position?
Ridgway: I never sought it, no.

Hatloff: Did you go through hie national security advisor, or staff sec-

retary, as he was called in those days?
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Ridgway: T never had occasion to ask for a meeting with him. He asked
me to come over and prasent the report in person, after that mission came
back from Indochina.

Matloff: Were there ever any repercussions on his part when you had to
appear on the Hill and your feelings about the Army's glice of the budget
were quite strong? any attempt to lean your public positlon before the
committees?

Ridgway: Mo, 1 was called before the Congress very infrequently. The
only thing that I clearly remember now was before that joint segsion of
the two Senate committees.

Matloff: Concerning the State Department, particularly Secretary of
State Dulles, what were your relations with him?

Ridpway: Very pleasant. I had contact with him when I had firset joilned
the Military Staff Committee in London when the United Nations were for-
mally organized. That was the first time I had ever met him. Later on,
I got to see a good deal of him, because at least for the first year of
my tour as a member of the Joint Chiefs all of the Chiefs attended the
sessions of the National Securlty Council. In the latter part of my tour
that was changed and the rest of us were not Invited; only the Chairman
attended. I recall one lncident when the President was 1ll=-1r may not
have been a meeting of the whole Council--but I do recall that Vice
President Mixon was ip the chalr. Sone major issue arose and Admirsl
Radford elected to state the views of the Joint Chiefs, Including those

of the Army. 1 interrupted, apologized to the Chairman, and said, "I
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must object to this, I'nm Army Chief of Staff, and I will present the
views of the Army on this question.” That cut that off right away, and
Mr. Nixon heard my views.

Matloff: Did you have the impresslon that Secretary of State Dulles wder~
stood the role and uses of nilitary power?

Ridgway: He was obsessed with the idea that we would use the bomb at times
and places of our own choosing. I think that he had a fundamental miscon-
ception of the poseible use of the A-bomb. It was something that you just
could not use indiscriminately. But I think that, initlally at least,

Mr. Dulles would have settled any problem that arcse by the threat of the
use of the A-bomb, as was done in Korea before Eisenhower became President,
The whole history of the world since that time has shown thar it really
doesn't have any use. It's all or nothing with thae thing. Herbert

York, a prestigious sclentist, wrote a book called The Road to Obliviom,

that covered that point very well,

Matloff: We'll be talking with him, teo, in this program. I take it then
that Dulles probably didn't understand the possgible uses of the Army as

an instrument of national power, elther.

Ridgway: I would think ses I would think that that would follow.

Matloff: Let me touch for & moment on the DoD reorganization of 1853-~did
you faver 1t or not? That came along during the period that you had taken
over. That reorganization, based on the recoumendations of the Rockefeller
Committee, was called Reorganization Plan No. 6. It in effect removed the

JCS from the chain of command. The service secretaries, rather than the
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service chiefs, became the executive agents for the unified military com-
mands. What impact, 1if auy, might it have had on the Army? Dild it make
any blg differences, for example, in the Chief of Staff's handling of the
ground forces in crisiz actions?

Ridgway: My memory is not clear on that. I vecollect the Rockefeller plan
but I couldn't answer your guestion. Let me go back to my dealings with
Dulles. Mr. Dulles was a top-flight lawyer with a trained mind, and his
oral briefings of the National Security Council at the times when I was
present were done in & masterly fashion. TFact after fact was clearly stated
in beautiful sequence. In fact, B0 wuch zo that one time, after the National
Security Council broke up, I went up to express my admiratlon for the clar-~
ity and completeness of his presentation of a complicated situation. On
the question of downgrading or changing, vhich did or did not oceur under
the Rockefeller plan, I don't remember that. I do remember very strongly
that I felt that the service secretaries were belng degraded in influence,
and I put this in a talk I gave to the whole Army staff at one time, before
I knew how it was going to be handled. The Secretary of Defense had stated
publicly that he would honor the authority and position of the service sec—
retaries, and orderg to them would only come from him. That was discarded
very early. As a matter of fact, I think that you would find that the
service secretarles were very frequently getting orders from various assis—
tant secretaries of Defense, and not with the knowledge and approval of the
Secretary of Defemse himself. In other words, the service secretaries were

really being denigrated. I protested againat that. I have a paper——when
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McElroy was Secretary of Defense, he asked for my opinione--I'1l get you
a2 copys I felt that there was a double barreled thing theve. In the
first place, the service secretaries should have the full autherity of
the great responsibility they carry and deal with nobody less than the
Deputy Secretary or Under Secretary of Defeanse, and not have this prolif-
etation. There were numerous assistant secretaries who would come down
and glve orders Co the service secretaries. 1 thought that was wrong,
and I stated that in the letter to Secretary McElroy.

Matloff: On the positions of the Joint Chiefs versus the service secre~
taries, do you recall any change in relationships betwsen those two in
the chain of command?

Ridgway: No, I don't. You see, during the Korean War the Army Chief of
Staff was the agent for the Joint Chiefs, so he iesued ordere direct to
the Far Bast Command. This was chenged after the Forean War, end there-—
after any such instructions came not from any member of the Joint Chiefa
but from the service secretary concerned or from the Secretary of Dafense.
Matloff: In connection with the perceptions of the threat with whiech the
United States was faced, do you recall the dominant attitude toward the
Soviet threat that vou found in DoD when you assumed offlce? Was it any
different from the perception of the threat in your other capacities?
Were there any differences of views about the threat within DoD? within
the JCS? or between the JCS and the Secretary of Defense?

Ridgway: I think that we had a pretty clear perception of the scope

and the magnitude of the threat, although the actions which should be
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taken to minimize that threat were quite different from those which the JC§
would have taken. I think that®s been true gll the way through, as 1 was
referring to a little while ago. It's impossible for me to imagine why the
adviece supported by incontrovertible evidence of the senior nilitary leaders
over the perlod of several successive administrations was given only lip
service by the civilian authorities. .
Matloff: This touches on what we were discussing earlier. Have your views
about the threat changed over the years?

Ridgway: HNot a bit. Everything has confirmed them. Everything in rhe
document that I gave you this morning, which wea written in 1947, stands
Just as true today, except for one thing. At that time Soviet naval power
had not emerged as a threat to our Navy in the oceans of the world as 1t ie
today.

Matloff: Let's turn to stvategy and strategic planning, and we will touch
on the New Look policy of the Elsenhowey administration. Who in the Depart-
ment of Defense was primarily influential in strategy-making during your
tenure? Was it the Joint Chiefs? the services?

Hidgway: It should have stemmed from the Joint Chiefs as a body. In other
words, the civilian authorities state the political objectives, and the
prime responsibility is, of course, the protection of the country. From
those, the Joint Chiefs try to evolve a plan to meet any reasonable contin-
gency which they can foresee.

Matloff: Did the Secretary of Defense play any role in this process?

Ridgway: Not during the formulation, but after the views of the Joint
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Staff reached him, he was responsible under the President for either
approving, disapproving, or changing whatever views were submitted.
Matioff: Some Secretaries of Defense have been very active imn this role,
for example, Secretary McMNamavra. But Secretary Wilson, I take it, was of
a different stripe.

Bidgway: Yes. Fortunately, I didr't serve under McNamara,

Matloff: How closely did the President or the Secretary of Defenme follow
the development of military strategy? Was Elsenhower keeping a fairly cloge
watch on 1t?

Ridgway: Yes, I think so. Of course, you must remember always in evalu-—
ating Eisenhower that he had two very serious illnesses that toolk a lot out
of him. He had unilgue experience in World War IT a8 Supreme Coumander in
Europe. This reminds me of the time when Acheson was taken apart by the
media for having put Korea outside of our line of defense. That was simply
carrying out & decision which President Truman had approved. The Joint
Chiefs had recommended that to Trumam, and he had accepted it. And why
wouldn't he? It was a joint recommendation of Leahy, whe was seniocr aide
to Pranklin Roosevelt and later to Truman, Eigenhower, Nimitz, and

Spaatz. Those four all agreed on this question. If we got into a war,
Korea was the last place in which we wanted to bave to fight. It would be
a secondary or tertiary theater. They forwarded that recommendation to the
President, who approved it. 8o Acheson was only enunciating a policy which
the commander in chief himself had approved, on the recommendation of the

Joint Chiefs of Staff.
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Matloff: On the origine of the Wew Look Poliey, on which so much has
been written, discussed, and debated, did you get any impression as to
how this came about? Was it possibly British influence; purely economics;
alr Force influence; strategic considerations? Did you have any feeling as
toe why the administration began to talk about the New Look and argue for it?
Ridgway: The New Look, if I understand it, was primarily that they would
use the A~bomb ko save money. You wouldn't have to have'an enormous mil-
itary, because you would just drop an A~bomb and that would gettle it. 1
have no idea of any influence the British exercised on this, none whatever.
Matloff: In the middle of the 508 the writing of some of the British analysts
dealt with the swing over toc the Idea of Iindependent deterrent as one way
that Britain could go, too.
Ridgway: 1 don't know about that.
Matloff: I was golng to asl you whether this policy of the New Losk only
accented or emphasized trends that were already started inm previous admia-
istrationg~—whether it was really that new and different? How about the
impact on the services, particularly the Army's attitude toward the New
Look? Did you support the Wew Look in principle or did you have strong
reservationa?
Ridgway: No; I'll give you a concrete example, to which I referred before.
Radford was the big propomnent of dropping the A~bomb on Dien Bien Phu. He
said that this was the first very clear chance to apply the New Loock. I
wag In wholehearted opposition.
Matloff: What in your view ghould have been the Army's reole under the
New Look policy? Was there a place for the Army?
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Ridgway: Abgolutely. The Army is the essential, the final arbiter, because
the control of land ig the ultimate basis. WNeither the Navy nor the Air
Force can operate without secure land bases. How would they get the secure
land basea?--by the army's protection of the territory involved. Really
this is the big theme the Army Is trying to put across to the public today-~
that land power is the final key element in the whole thing.

Matloff: What was your attitude toward nuclear weapons——their bulldup and
use? Did you and the other chiefs favor the use of nuclear weapons under
certain cilreumstances at leaat?

Ridgway: I think that you will find almogt unaniwmous disagreement, except
on Radford's part, of the use of the A~bomb in Dien Bien Phu. EFarlier in
Korea, it was certainly considered, tc the point where we war-gamed the
situation to see 1f we could make proper use of the A-bomb. Even earliler
than that, when the President was over there (before he took office}, I
read that he threastened that if they didn’t produce an armistice, he would
ugse the A-bomb on them. It was perfectly apparent that it could be used.

It was a weapon that wag available and we gave very careful conslderarion

to it. Bradley came over to see e, when I was Supreme Commander in Tokyo,
and asked, in effect, “Would you use 1t now?” I sald, "No, I would not,
because I don't know how many bombs the Russians have, but we are very
vulnerable to this thing.”

Matloff: On questions of conventional versus nuclear defense, I thought
you would have leaned toward conventional.

Ridgway: Yes. But I've often said that if I were field commander and I had

a nuclear weapon under my control and if 1t came to the point where ir was a
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question of the destruction or saving of my foreces, I would unhegitatingly
use it, with or without permission.

Matloff: Did you ever have any discussions with Dulles or with the Pregi-
dent on what they meant by brinkmanship and wmassive retaliation?

Ridgway: No, not personally. Again, 1'11l come back to my relations with
Dulles. I recall an incident when Adenauer came over to the United States
and I was Chief of Staff (I had had very fine relations with him when I had
the European command). He wanted, I learned later, to econsult with me on
how he could best reconstitute the German army wilthout having the flavor of
the old Hitler regime. 1I'd had the same problem with Yoshida: how he could
build up the Japanese ground self-defense force without getting this mili-
taristic element into it again. I told this to Mr. Dulles, who said, "I'd
like you to arrange a meeting with Mr. Adenauer, and feel free to talk to
him about this.” So we did. The reason I bring this up is because a short
time later LTG Trudeau got in trouble and was relieved because apparently,
either with Adenaver or a British high official, he went about gomething
the wrong way. The point I am making 1s that in my case It was done becanse
the Secretary of State himself asked me to de it. I think that Trudeau
might have possibly stepped out of bounds. He's a very able man, splendid
in every way, and he firally was vindicated and brought back. Dulles had a
vindictive streak in him. The Oppenheimer case proved it very well. He
crucified Oppenheimer. Finally, years later, 1t was retracted but it was

too late. He practically ruined that man's career.
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Matloff: Did you think that massive retallation was merely rhetoric with
Dulles, or was the administration serious about the possible use of atomic
weapons T

Ridgway: T think he belleved this. He would say, “I'l1l tell you what, you
do so—~and-so and 1'1l use the A-bomb on you.” He'd bring them right up to
the brink. I think he was absoutely sincere. I dom't think it was just
rhetoric at all.

Matloff: Would the President have gone along with him, do you think?
Ridgway: 1 don’t think Eisenhower would have. FEisenhower said in his
memoiras that he might have gons along with latervening in Indochina in 1954,
had Brirain and France gone along with him, but primarily Britasin. The
British government said that it would have no part of it.

Matloff: Still on the question of strategy and touching on weaponry, did
the President encourage you and the other chiefs to go forward with the
development of conventional weapons?

Bidgway: I can't remember any overt encouragement; certainly no contrary
opinion brought against it. We in the Army were trying, among other things
at that time, to foresee the character of the battlefield in a Ffuture war—
not trying to look too far ahead, but to be practical about the thing. We
realized that the present organization we had of a very heavy division
probably needed some drastic change. So we had e very thorough study done.
Like all these things, it only offered a partial solution or correction.
Since then, we've had numerous changes in the organdization of divisions
and, right now, we are ftrying to organize a light infantry division.
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Matloff: You mentioned some difference of views with Aduiral Radford.
Wherein, if at all, were your views of limited war and brushfire waATE, even
the use of conventlonal weapons, different from those of the other chiefs?
Ridgway: The main difference was this question of using the A-bomb.
Matloff: How did you see the Army's role in the atomic age? You've wricten
in your volume, Soldier, that one of your main concerns was what the Arary
of the future should look like and what its role .should he. You had given
consaiderable thought to this question.

Ridgway: 1'd rather rest on what I what I wrote. Yt was fresh in my mind,
and I stated it in the precise language I wanted to use.

Matloff: We'll refer the reader to your chapter on the Army's role in the
atomic ages

Ridgway: I frequently reread my letter to the Secretary of Defense datad
June 27, 1935, three days before I retired. That is the one that I sent to
him unclassified. He didn't like some parts of it, so he classified it—-

marked 1t "secret.” The New York Times pot ahold of it withinp 48 hours, in

toto, not through me or any of my subordinates. I don’t know how they got
it. They published the whole thing. Then they queried him abour it, and
he said, "It wasn't important anyway.”

Matloff: You have a copy of that Iin vour memoirs.

Ridgway: Yes, I vead it and revead it. I would hardly change a word in
that thing. The only thing was that I couldn't ther foresee that the
Rugsian military machine, which had through the ages been essentially a

ground force, could possibly become a first—class blue water navy. Lt wmas
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not in the traditien of the Russian people. The last time they had a
slzable fleet, the Japanese destroyed it at Tsushima, 1n May 1905.

Matloff: Let's turn to NATO for a minute. We talked yesterday at consid-
erable length about your experiences in NATO. Tid the problems in NATO
change when you became Chief of Staff? Did You get Involved again with
NATO problems in any way? You touched on the German army buildup.

Ridgway: The German army thing came a little bit later. That came during
my Chief of 5taff tour. The problems had changed from the time I took over
from Eisenhower. Eiéenhowar had gotten there In a smpirit of euphoria smong
the heads of the govermment, with his tvemendous reputation and the reali-
zation of the real threat of the Soviet Union, so that they were willing to
promige everything, and they did. They promised all these divisioms~—that
we would have X number of divisions by M0 and all of that. But thar
period had very much cooled when the politicml heads of these governments
found what the cost of this thing was, and meanwhile they apparently felt
that the threat had somewhat abated. They weren't willing to go along and
provide the funds bto do 1t. That was ocur big problem.

Matloff: When you became Chief of Staff of the Army, were you involved
with NATO policiaes, stratepy, and buildup?

Ridgway: Yes, because thizs was when we were trying to reinforce our forces
in NATO, and Senator Taft opposed this strongly. We were trying to provide
two more divisions there and beef up the divisions we already had In the
area, in spite of Korea. Xorea was more or lees static. The decision had

been made by Mr. Truman before I became Chief of Staff, while I was still
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Supreme Commander in the Far East, that there would be no material rein-
forcement of the forces in Korea. You work with what you've got over there
now, the rest of it will be going to Europe. This iz what Tafe opposed.

So we were very much involved in that in doing our planning, but these
political directives came down from Eisenhower and, of course, he wanted to
build up the sitrength of our NATO contingent, too.

Matloff: Along with the question of the German resrmament and the admig-
slon of Germany to the alliance in 1955, the question of the buildup of the
German army became importamt. You touched on this a little earlier. Diid
you have any doubts, misgivings, or qualmz at first about German rearmament,
in view of Germany's past history?

Ridgway: Again, it's a hard thing to look back 30 or 40 vears. 1 think
that my thinking goes back so far that the German people are easentially
militaristic. The love of soldiering is bred in the hone of the German
people. 1I'm sure that I wasn't trying to look ahead another decade or two
as to what might happen if we permitted Weset Germany to rebuild its army.
But nelther would I have idgnored the fact that thaf was a very likely
cantingency, as it was with Japan. The forces operating agalnst it in the
case of Japan were: (1) the thinking of the Japanese electorate when the
women got the franchise and everything else after the peace treaty, and (2)
the academicilang and the youth of the country were opposed te militarism.
Combined with that was the deep hstred that the Japanese operations had
engendered in all the countries of scutheast Asila, the Philippines, Malaysia,

Thailand, ete.
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Matloff: You expressed before that you felt that these forces in Japan and
Germany were going to be rebuilt; that you wanted to rebuild them, but with-
out the touch of Hitler and of the militaristie element in Japan.

Ridgway: It was very lnteresting that I had that same very frank talk with
Yoshida, the Prime Minister of Japan, and later with‘ﬂdenauer, the Chancellor
of West Germany.

Matloff: That's a rather unique experience, I would think. There aren't
very many officials that have had that.

Ridgway: I told them that the differences were very pronounced. One fun~
damental difference was thalt in Germany, particularly, the individual officer
took a personal oath to Hitler, but our alleglance is to the Pregident of
the United States, and those who may succeed him in power.

Matloff: We mentiouned yesterday something abeur the European Pefense Com-
munilty proposal of amalpamating West Germmny closer to the Western defense
community by bhaving a common European army. Did vyou as Chlef of Staff ger
drawvn in on those dlscussions?

Ridgway: Mo, I wasn’t drawn into that at all.

Matloff: Lets come now to some of the area problems that arose. You'wve
already touched on Indochina. I'd like to come directly to this because
there are some questions that atill linger. During your tenure as Chief of
Staff there occurrxed the Dien Bien Phu crisis, and, ghortly thereafter,

came the communist takeover of northern Indochina ag & result of the Geneva
conference. What were your impressions at the time of the significance of

thoge developments for American security interests? There was, for ezample,
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a rather widespread feeling on the part of United States of ficlaldom that
communism was on the march and putting the free world generally on the
defensive. Did you share that feeling at the time?
Ridgway: I personally never subscribed to the domino theory, that 1if one
falls, they 211 would. I don't today. I think that the rulers of each one
of these govermments are going to decide in thelr own interests vhat they
want to do. That's mot to preclude the possibility that it would happen.
For emxample, ag in Central America today, with people who have been dented
the bagic elements of life for centuries, who are ill~fed, ill~clothed, 111-
housed and have no medical attention of any kind, you're alwaye golng to have
a group that is seeking power. They go through the same process. Usually
they proclaim that they want freedom for their people and hecause of
that they draw the support of such middle class and business people as
there may be. But in the back of the minds of these leaders is, "When we
Bet control, we're going to exercise euthoritarian rule.” And that's what
happens.
Matloff: Let's talk about the Dien Bien Phu crisis in the gpring of 1934,
which has come up here on a number of points. Were you consulted about
posaible U.S5. help during that crisis? What advice do you recall giving?
There were discussions in the Joint Chiefs, and apparently meetings with the
President, toc. You mentioned Admiral Radford's desire for am atomic
strike. What position did you take at that time?
Ridgway: 1 opposed entry into Indochina in the first place very strongly.
Going way back--I've forgotten just when it happened-—but we had an ambassador
Pagg determined to be Unciassifier
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who had just been designated to be the ambassador to Indochina, Philip
Bonsal, and he came to me when I was the NATO commander, or maybe when I
was Deputy Chief of Staff of the Army. Tn effect, he wanted to know i1f I
had any comments on the job he was about to undertake. I sald, "Yes, I
certainly do. I think vou've got a hell of & tough job to take aver there."
I can only say that from the very beginning I was stroagly opposed to
intervention In Indochina. When it was first brought up to me (I think
I was taking Collins' place when he was off somewhere) by the State Depart-
ment, who wanted the view of the Jolnt Chisfs on X number of hundreds of
millions of dollars to the French, I said, "I think that you're throwing
good money after bad. As far as I'm concerned that's kind of eut of my
field but I think that you are just wasting your money.” That was the
beginning of wy opposition, and I opposed it all the way through. When we
were overruled (I'd long since retired before we put combat forces in
there), my reaction to our sending in a Marine contingent as the first
combat element imto Vietnam was, "Don't you learn anything from Eorea?"
Matloff: It was the Korean experience that made you feel that we ghould
stay out of Indochina? Was that the basis for the feeling?
Rldgway: The main thing, even hefore I sent that group of senlor experts,
guartermaster, medical, signal, engineering, and combat arms, over there
to survey the theater on the ground, was that there was abysmal ignorance in
the whole Defense Department of the nature of the theater there. I put it
in writing: "It will take 2 major national logilstic effort to prepare the
facilities that an Awerican force requires, if you'rae golng into Indochina.™
15 Bcsiowed Chlr pan lessif
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I told them, as a result of the study we had made in the Plans DPilvision
under General Gavin, "If you go in there, you're goilng to wind up with a
farce of some half a million troops.” Radford's position was that it could
be done by air and navy at the beginning. My oppesition was dead set
against that. If we committed ailr and navy, we were going to have to fol-
‘low up with ground troups, and I wanted no part of it.

Matloff: Let me introduce a question here by my colleaguz Dr. Richard
Leighton, who has written in the U.S. Army in World War Il series and is
working om the OSD history in this period. He asked me to vaise this peint
with you. In studying the period he finde that some of the writers, Bernard
Fall, Melvin Gurtov, asnd others, have recorded your strong opposition, during
the slege of Dien Blen Phu in the spring of 1954, to Admiral Radford's
recommendation for an aly strike to help the French at a critical point in
the siege, in response to a French appeal. They've written that that
recommendation of yours was declsive in Influencing President Eisenhower to
turn doun the Radford proposal, and that you were convinced that the inter-
vention with air and naval forces would lead inevitably to deploying large
ground forces to Indochina. These wrilters have also written that during
the same spring you had sent a team of loglstic specialists to the theater
to exsmine lts capabilities——ports, roade, railroads, alrfields, and the
like—~~for supporting large gound operations, and that that mission had
discovered that the capabilities were minimal.

Ridgway: Absolutely non-existent, I would say.

Matloff: Does thir tally with your memory?
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Ridgway: Absolutely.

Matloff: Here is the historinn's.prohlem, quoting Dr. Leipghton: "I have
been unable to find evidenece that such an army migssion was in fact sent to
Indochina in the spring of 1954, although your opposition to the deployment
of large ground forces to the theater is, of course, well documented.”
Ridgway: Tell him to look up my memerandum of 17 May 1954, which refere to
the report of this mission. I don’t have a copy of that here. This ig
vhen I briefed first the Secretary of the Army, and then President Eigen—
hower Iin person. I think that was deeisive, but that'e purely opinion on
my part. Let me refer vo your friend Lelighten for a winute. With raefer—
ence to port facllities, there wasn't any place where you could unload,
except a minimum of tons, and if you could get it off the ghip, you would
have to put it in a rice paddy. The telephone system and the electrical
communication system in the country were practically nonexistent. Ths
roads were wholly inadequate to support the population. And as I said
again, "If you go in there, it's going to take a major national logistic
effort to do it.” It did. We poured billions of dollars into developing
Cam Ranh Bay, Danang, and those places—-not millions, but billions of dollars.
The Russlans are using them now.

Matloff: On the question of your recommendation to the President at the
time of Dien Bien Phu, Dr. Leighton was asking if you personally advised
the President not to order a carrier air strike apgainegt the Viet Minh at

Dien Bien Phu at any time before April 29, when, according to a writer on
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Indochina, Bernard Fall, the issue was seriously considered for the last
time.

Ridgway: I don’t recall that I made a personal rvecommendation to the Preg-
dent. Whatever recommendation I made would have gone through chanmels.
Matloff: Can you recall whether it was before April 297

Ridgway: No, I could not do that.

Matloff: Dien Bien Phu actually fell on May 7. Is there anything more

that you would like to say on this crisis in Dien Bien Phu that we have

not touched on? ash ?3(b)(5'2((,) + 05D
Ridgway: No, I don't think so. Section 6.2 (&)

Matloff: The recommendation of Radford's for emn atomic strike—-was it in

additien tp a carrier gir strike, or ueing the atomle weapon from the carrier?

Ridpway:

B These were the nearest

éﬁailaﬁie, and.were thé ones‘gﬁ&t ﬁadfofd‘wanféd to use. Dulles went along
with that. Dulles and Redford were trying to persuade the President to do
this.

Matloff: One of the by-products of the problems in Indochina was the found—
ing of the SEATO alliance. That was one of the offshoots when Dulles was
looking to do a repalr job. Did you get drawm In at all on that?

Ridgway: No, mot on SEATC. I want to reinforce something I said on Dien
Bien Phu. I think Eisenhower might have gone along, this is surmise on wy

part, but the sire gua non was that Britain go along and rrobably France.

But the British saild that they would have no part of 1t.

Matloff: Are you minimizing your influence on him in this decision?
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Bidgway: No, I don't tchink so.

Matloff: Did you think that 1t carried weight? It must have had some
influence.

Ridpway: I couldn’t even say that. Eilgenhower was a professional career
soldier and the report of this group of experts [the May 17, 1954 memo]
would have been conclusive to him, overwhelmingly so. As a President and
controller of the immense powar of the United States, he might have decided
to go In if Britain went along, but Britain wouldn't go along.

Matloff: TIs this the mission that wae headed by General Gavin, that you
mentioned earlier?

Ridgway: No, Gavin was the head of my Plans Divisfion. I mentioned Gavin
in the connection that if we did go in, the Plans Division of ny staff esti-
mated vhat forces would be requlred. It would take around half s million |
men. That's what we finally sent there and still didn't do the job.
Matloff: Tt was a very sccurate progonostication, as it turned out. Let me
turn to the crisis Iin Quemoy and Matsu, which followed the one ig Indochina,
Did you feel 1t important to pupport the Chinese nationalists in connection
with the problems that were rising in the Quemoy-~Matsu affair? How far
would you have gone to defend those izlands?

Ridgway: T wouldn't have gone at all. On the map, 1f there wag a line
between the promontories sticking out, a good part of those islands would
be almost within the line. They were clearly a part of the mainland there,
and I didn't think we had any legitimate reaspn for trying to permit the

Chinepe forcew om Taiwan to take those islandas. Here again, Redford amd I
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had opposite points of view. He thought so, and I didn’t.

Matloff; Did any other trouble spots arise In other parts of the world?
This was also the perlod in which the Guatamalan crisis came up. Did yeu
and the Army get drawn in at all on that one?

Ridgway: No, not at all. The President briefed us one time on that Guata~
malan situation, Just after Arbenz was overthrown.

Matloff: You weren't drawn in on that?

Bidgway: HNe, I wasn't involved.

Matloff: Any other crisls areae that occurred during your yeara as Chief
of Staff?

Ridgway: I don't believe so.

Matloff: Let me ask von a litcle about Manpower, weapons and equipment.
What was your view of the relationshlp between nﬁclear weapons and the

need for manpower for the Army? Obvicusly some people were argulng that
with the coming of nuclear weapous you might have a bigger bang for 2 buck
and need fewer men,

Ridgway: This was Dulles's argument always. This was the basis for his
bripkmanship and the New Look and massive use of the A~bomb. Our conclu-
glon in the Army was that we would very likely need more people in a nuclesr
war, because you would have to disperse them pot far from these remunerative
targets where you could have terrible loeses from a single nuclear weapon.
Then we hit into that, and I still think so today.

Matlpoff: Did any questions come up during that period as Chief of Staff

or at other times about UMI? Did you haeve feelings about that one?
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Ridgway: Not while I was Chief of Staff, but long before that. After
World War II General Marshall led the fight to get vniversal wmilltary train-
ing, but Congress would have no part of It at all. It had Truman's support
but the Congress was just ademant against it amd the whole country was alsgo.
Matloff: Would you have favored it?

Ridgway: Absolutely. We worked hard for it.

Matioff: How about questlons of the draft versus the volunteer army?
Ridpway: I opposed the latrter, and I still think that it's a great mistaka.

There was a very fine article in the Well Street Journal yvesterday (the

18th of April) which I would commend to you, “The Folly of Our Manpower
Poliey.” It weas written by a2 major in the Marine Corps Reserve. You
haven't got a backup. You're going te have enormous casualties in the

very inditilal stages of a war today, whether A-bombs are used or not, and

we don't have the backup, the tralned manpower.

Matloff: You would have favored the draft over the volunteer army?

Ridgway: Absolutely. Not only that, but you get a cross section of America,
if 1it'e properly and fairly implemented, and there's no question but that

it can be. There were s0 many exceptions made during World War II; that's
where most of the criticism came. But if it's fairly implemented, you get

& crosg section of every stratum of Ameriecan mocilety., Two years' service

is a great benefit to a young man. It gives him a little discipline. Any
number of times since I've been here, in the almost 30 years since I retired,
ag when our Vietnam War was ar its heipght, parents would come in and mean,

"My son 1s ordered to Vietnam, drafted. My wife is going to go crazy.” I
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thought, "You're lucky. He'll come out & better man than he was before."”
Then, almost every time it happened, they would come around and say that it
did him & world of good.

Hatloff: Obvlouely the Eisenhower defense policy had an impact on the Ammy
buildup program during the period when you were Chief of Staff——the budget
and manpower cuts.

Ridgway: 1 protested that. Right after I retired, I was called bzfore a
committee of the House--Mahon was the chairman, 1t'z in the congressional
record——and 1 was asked, "Will you disagree with the President?” I said,
"I do, and these are my convictions. He's had a lot more experdence in
some lines than I, but nevertheless these are my views.”

Matloff: Let me raise some guestions that Dr, Leighton has given me here
in this connectlion, and #ee how you react te them, Did your opposition to
the manpower cuts lmposed on the Army by the President at the end of 1953
caugse you to give serious consideration to resigning as Chief of Staff?
There were press reports at the time that you were considering this.
Ridgway: Wo, never. I deplored the fact that any senlor officer would
resign because of & dissgreement with a policy, unless it was a policy so
repugnant to him morally, and then he always has the option of saying, "I
will not go along with that, and you can have my resignation.”

Matloff: Let me raise another one, along the same lines, In connection
with your testimony during the hearings in the Senate on the Fiscal Year
1955 Defense Budget--you were testifying early in 1954 about the 1955 bud—

get. This testimony shows that you were very mindful of your professional
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duty to support the lawful orders of your civilisn superiors——the Commander
in Chief; the Secretary of Defense; the Secretary of the Army. Dr. Leighton
has asked how you reconciled in your own mind your later opposition in arti-
cles and speeches, for exanple in 1955, a few months before the end of your
tour as Chief of Staff, to the manpower and budgetary cuts imposed on the
Army?

Ridgway: The distinctlion was clear in my mind. Up wntil the time a deci-
glon 1s made by a properly constituted authority, you not only have the
right, but you have a duty to express your views. You are legally a mili-~
tary adviser to the Secretary of Defense and the President. If these are
your carefully considered views, and you give the supporting resgons, fthen
it is your duty to say so before a member of the Congress. I have sald in
that connection, and I would repeat it now—I have before recommended though
I don't think it has ever been agreed to-—that T think that the Chiefs of
the services should have the prescripiive right by legislation that any

time a matter is of sufficient importance in thelr considered view they

have the right to appear before the proper committees of the Congressz (for
example, the Armed Forces Committee}, not Just the Congress as s whole, and
state their views. This wes following the time that I referred to before,
when the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff would elsect to speak for all
the services. No man in my opinien is likely ko have such a complete com-
mand of the facts relating to one of the big services more than his own
service, He has spent 30 years acquiring that. If you have a man like

Geoeral Marshall, all bets are off because he was 80 broadminded that he
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could-see the whole picture, and, as a matter of fact, he dominasted the
Navy in this whole thing. But you don't find men like him but once in a
generation.

Matloff: Let me ask a few general questions about cold war policies. With
rveference to contalmment, which was the buzz word of the day and has been
ever slnce this first came into view in the 1940g——did you belleve that
containnent wag a vealistic policy?

Ridgway: T don't know what I thought then. T would say today that it
probably was the only realistic thing you could do——try and check their
expanslon. I was probably fully in accord with that. Check their expan-~
sion as far ae you could, without going to war; preveant their extending
thelr control.

Matloff: How about the problem of military ald as a teol in the cold war?
How effective do you view it on the basis of your experience?

Ridpway: Military aid to other countries?

Matlecff: Yes.

Ridgway: That's slways a two-edged sword, too, because you always have a
chance (which has happened before) that conditions will change, and all the
military aid you poured into there will be turned againgt you. We've got
thies today--~we pourad billioms of dollars into building these tremendous
logiatic basee In Indochina, which are now occupled by the Russlans.
Matloff: Ir works well in some places, and pot in others?

Bidgway: Yes, the same argument has heen used through my whole career, not

Just ss Chief of Staff, but as a young officer in the Latin American field.
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I had extemsive experiemce with the Latins. Nicaraguz is another example.
Sure, we give them military equipment, hut you never know what is going to
happen in the end; it's a gamble.
Matloff: What was your view toward arms control and disarmement? Did you
play any role in this area during your tenure as Chief of Staff?
Ridgway: No. It's an 1llusion; there's no such thing. Man is the most
dangercus predator on earth. It is bred in his bones. He hzg had to fight
for a living since time immemorial, and he always will. That's human nature
and 1t's not going to change. So this business of disamament is just a
figment. I think that the word should be aholished. There 1s never going
to be disarmament. If there were, and if you abolished every weapon, you
would fight with sticks and stones.
Matloff;: How about arme control?
Ridgway: That's a fine thing to do, but how do you treat with leadership,
such as the Soviet Union has. They will vialate anything. Thelr secrecy
is an openly employed method. It's been a secret society for hundreds of
Years, and no less so today than it ever was.
Matloff: Let me ask now some general questions about your perspectives on
the OSD organization and management. How do you gee the roles and rela—
tions of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and its chairmen? Do you gee any need
for changes there?
Ridgway: Rather than try to answer that, I'm going to give you a copy of
this document. It answers this in decail. {Letter, Gen. M.B. Ridgway to
Neil 5. McElroy, Se/Def, 6 Feb. 1958.]
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Matloff: How about relations between the Joint Chiefs of Btaff and the

Secretary of Defense? You've probably reflected on this over the years.

Do you gee sny need for changes in this conmection?

Ridgway: My views probably aren't up to date, because I lack the facts
today. In this paper I wrote to Secretary McElroy, I said, “You have far
too many assistant secretaries of defense." But I think they have more
today. I don't know what the organization is today. Zach one tends to
dabble in the affaixe that were the prerogative of his seniors in his own
office of Secretary of Defense snd not for him personzlly.

Matloff: Have you given any thought to questions about the need for changes
in structure or working relations at the top levels in the 08D7

Ridgway: I think that's pretty well covered in this document.

Matloff: I would like to go down this 1iat again and get your impressions
of some of the people with whom you came in contact at the top levels in
the Office of the Secretary of Defense. The general question is: How would
you characterize the styles, personalities, and effactiveness of the Secre~
taries of Defense and other top officials in OSD and JCS with whom you
worked? We've already touched on Secretary of Defense Wilson. I have a
serles of questlons about him, some of which you have already answered.

How would you characterize Wilson as administrator of the Department of
Defense? Do you consider that on balance his administration was effective?
Ridgway: Very poor. They wound up with a $12 billion deficit during
Elsenhower's first term, as I recall. It got completely out of Wilson's

control, and he was Secretary of Defense.
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Matloff: So you don't get the feeling of a strong manager, of a strong Sec-
retary keeping an eye on all the pleces?
Ridgway: My opinion of Mr. Wilson——his abilities, his personality-—is very
low.
Matloff: Did he choose able subordinates and associlates?
Ridgway: I don't know how many of them he personally picked, but he picked
Boger Kyes, who was one of his chief men when he (W{leon) was head of Gen-
eral Motors. I think Kyes may have been an sgble adminlatrator-—1 don't
know. But he was not the type of man that draws willing cooperation out of
people. It's a bulldozing, bulldog effect. WNow, Bob Anderson was the type
that would elicit your cooperation and zet dt.
Matloff: DI1d you get the Impression that Wilson shopped around for advice,
or did he rely on just a few trusted advisers?
Ridgway: I would think the latter.
Matleff: Did he develop an understanding of the complexlties of natlonal
security policy and probleme? Was he implementing merely what the Pregi-—
dent wes directing, or did he rise above that to make his own creative
contributions?
Ridgway: I couldn't answer that.
Matloff: How would you compare Wilaon®s influence over the Praegident with
that of Admiral Radford? Who was the more infloential?
Ridgway: T think the President accorded both of their views very serious
conglideration on all oceasions.
Matloff: Would vou add any other impreasions of other Secretaries of Defense
with whom you came in contact, people like Forrestal, Marshall, Lovett?
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Ridgway: To my mind there's nobody that even equals, much less surpasses,
Marshall. T will put Lovett at a very high place, because he fmbibed the
working methods and basic character of his chief.

Matloff: Any other impressiens of Forrestal, with vhom you had some dealingg?
Ridgway: Forrvestal I didn't lkmow too well, because our acquaintance was
quite brief. But I had the highest regard for him. I think that he was a
man of the highest integrity and charactexr and I think that's what killed
him.

Matloff: We've already spoken about Roger Kyes and Robert Anderson. We've
touched on McNeil. How about Radford, anything more you want to say about
him?

Ridgway: I didn't have much contact with McNeil. I've tald you all T can
about Radford.

Matloff: You had a favorable impression of Robert Carney, as I remeumbzr.
Bidgway: Very, and a very warm feeling of friendship toward him which
existy today. With Nate Twining, likewise.

Matloff: How about Stevené, you mentioned hefore that you had a high
regard for him?

Ridpway: A man of mmimpeachable charseter and integrity and a gentleman.
The door between his office and mine was alwaye apen. I eould walk in to
him unannounced at any time.

Matloff: This was a rather close partnership, then.

Ridgway: Very close.

Matloff: Let me ask a gemeral question now abeut the Eisenhower presidency.

There has been a congiderable changing of views by writers on the subject
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of the Eisenhower presidency. Sonme historiang, who don'c agree with the
earlier accounts, have heen portraying an activist president, and some
scholars, what we In the trade call "revisionist historians,” are talking
about the "hidden hand leadership"~-that he was really more active than
people on the outside originally thought. Did you have any impreseions
of how activist a president Eisenhower was?

Ridgway: No, I don't think I'm competent to enswer that question. My
feeling would be that Risenhower's pexsonality wes such (he had a winning
personality) that he could very readily use his persouél Influence In the
manner 1n which you deecribe. But I didn't have any personal examples that
came fo my notice about that.

Matloff: Do you have any impressions of how he was getting his information
and advice? In moments of crisis, let's Bay., to whom would he turn?
Ridgway: There's mo question about this——that he practically gave Foster
Dulles carte blanche in running the foreign policy of the United States.

1 gave you one example of that—-Duylles wanted very much to go into Dien
Blen Fhu at that time, and Eisenhower put a flat "no™ on that, for the
reasons stated. DBut he certalnly did defer to Dulles and let him run the
State Department and the foreign policy of the United States, and that ie,
of course, what the Secretary of State 1s for.

Matloff: How about on the Eisenhower-Wilson relationship? Some people
have the impression that Eisenhower became impatient with Wilson, that
Wileon was always bringing him problems and letting the President decide.

Ridgway: I wouldn't know what problems he brought to the President.
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Matloff: Let's talk sbout your leaving the post of the Chief of Staff.
Would you describe the circumstances of your departure from the post,
when you made up your mind that you were golmg to leave and why?

Ridgway: Yes, I think this is in my book, and again I commend that to
you, because 1t was written at the time and 1t ig accurate bsyond any
guestion. But now I can only say this: the decision to retire at age 60
was made in Paris, while I was BACEUR, long before I even knew that I was
going to be Chief of Staff. My wife and T thoroughly canvasged the gitua-
tion. You see, I was an Army boy. I entered the Military Academy at the
age of eighteen, and had never had a residence or been able to votae in
any state of the union. Not until I had been here in Pittsburgh for one
year could I csst a vote. I hed no roots in any part of the country. I
had lived all over the United States. By "lived," I mesan in places for
more than a year. It's really amazing when 1 think beck on it. YThe states
of Washington, Califormia, Temas, Georgla, North Carolina, Virginia,
Magsachusetta, New York, Kansas, Illinois—-more than a year bad I lived
in every one of these places. I knew the country but I didn't bave any
bond with any community. So Penny, my wonderful wife-—and ghe ig magnlf~
icent-—and I decided that at age 60 it was going to he hard enough to

get established in some community. If we walted longer, even assuming
that I didn't have to retire until 64, it would be that much harder. So
while I was in fine health, but not too long before 60, I let it be knowm
that I wanted to retire. I walted until April, and then I asked the

Judge Advocate Genesral of the Army, "Do I have a right to retire now?"
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and he said, "Yes, you do. All you have to do 1s ask for 1t." So I gub~
mitted my letter sometime shortly after that. I left without any rancor at
all, and I would commend again my letter to Wilson that summed up my out-
look on the world, which hasn't changed.

Matloff: Were you consulted about your successor?

Ridgway: Wo, not at all; not a word, which was typical of Wilson's dealings.
He brought Taylor in--Taylor was on duty In the Far East~—just a few waels
before my retirement, and he and Taylor had some meetings. Tayler, who had
been my subordinate, never breathed a word about it. All I could assume
wag that he must have been selected, but I was given no intimation whatevera.
Matloff: Wae there any discussion or torrespondence between vou and your
successor on the nature of the Army's problems and its role under the New
Locok philesophy and how you had fared during your tenure?

Ridgway: Yes, I'm sure that Max Taylor and T discussed that at length, and
that I offered to do anything I could after T knew he was going to be Chief
of Staff. We had long talks. I had known him intimately for many years.
We were cleasemates of the Command and Staff College. He had been, first,
Chief of Staff of the 82d for a brief time, then Chief of Artillery, B2d
Airborne Division, and then in command of the 10ist, when 1t was 1in my
corps in Furope.

Matloff: 1In this connection I have a question from Dr, Lefighton beatring

on this issue about this succession. He says, "General Maxwell Taylor has
told how, bafore his appointment as Chief of Staff in 1955, he was quizzed

by Defense Secretary Wilson as to his willingness to carry out orders of
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his civilian superiors. Were you aware at the time that this had occurred?

that Taylor was being quizzed by Wilson?”

Ridgway: My answer is an unequivocal 'no,' but I learned about it later

from Taylor.

Hatloff: Did Geperal Taylor tell you sbout it later?

Ridgway: MNo, I read about it in his books.

Matioff: Leighton asks, "Did this incident indicate to you that Secretary

Wilson may have felt that you had been remiss in fulfulling your profes—

sional obligationa?”

Ridgway: I don't know what Wilson felt. I've sald enough about my opin-

ions of Mr. Wilson. He should never have been Secretary of Defense. But

Eisenhower plchked him,.

Matloff: T think that we've talkaed about how you see the Chlef of Staffis

role as a mllitary adviser, unless you want to add to that. In your letter

you were writing about that, as I remember.

Ridgway: I made it very clear in this McElroy letter. I think that by

statute he 19 one of the advisers to the Seeretary of Defense and te the

President., There should be no question of having him cut off by edict from

above. He should have the leglslated prescription or legal right legislated

by the Conpgress. You're dealing with a man who has.had 30 years of service;

apparently he must have had a fine reecord. or he would never have been chogen

as the chief of one of our services. You've got to rely on that man's Judg-

ment that if a matter is of such greet importance to his service and hig

views are not being consulted, and he is not being given an opportunity to
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express them, then he should have the right to go to the committees of the
Congress——the Senate and the House Armed Forces Committees——~and state his
views. It's like the right of the people peacefully to redress their griev—
ances. The civilian authorities make the final decision, but they make it
in the light of lnowing his views.

Matloff: What do you regard as your major achievements during your tenure
28 Chief of Staff and member of the Joint Chiefs? Anything in particular
that you look back on with aspecial pridet?

Ridgway: I think the preservation of tha integrity of the office, and ite
acceptance as such not only by the government but by the American people.
Walter Lippmann, in one of his articles about me shortly after my retire—
ment, commented on just that, snd I think that that probably would be my
begt contribution as Chief of Staff: to set an example of fearless, forth—
right expression of views, before a decision 1s made, and then to do your
utmost to carry out the decision that you opposed, after it has bean made.
For instance, after the decision was made to adhere to another drastie cut
in the Army's stremgth, which I had opposed, when the decision was announced
by the President, I personally went to every one of the four Army commanders
to tell them what the situation was and that we would do everything in our
powar te carry it ont,

Matloff: On the other side of the coin, what, if any, do you regard as

your disappointments or uncompleted tasks, or fallure to do things that you
would have liked to have done during thias period as Chief of Staff? This

was obviously a very trying period for the Arumy a&nd for its leader.
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Ridgway: I expect that was probably to be unable to stop the steady ero~
slon of the Army's strengfh, Just successive cut after cut. BRight after
my retirement, as I said before, I was cailed as witness before the Mahon
Committee of the House. Mr. Mahon, whom I had known for many years, said,
“General, you are free to say anything you want, now.” And I replied, "I
shall.” I reiteratsd what I've just said to you.
Matloff: I should ask you along that line: did you feel that the Congress
had an appreciation for the issues?
Bidgway: Men like Mahon did, yves. T had great asdmiration for Mahon. We
had great statesmen there. 1 refer again to Senator Walter George, Senator
Dick Ruseell, and in hie early days Senator Stennis. Senator Stennls now,
I'm afraid, 1s senile, and they've stripped him of his power. The committee
chairmen had great power in the old days; they don't have it any more.
Matloff: You've been very patient, and I want to express our appreciation
for your willingness to share your observations and comments with us en a
very lmportant perlod of history In 0SD. If there is any question whieh I
should have asked you but have not, or anything that you would like to add,
please feel free to do so.
Ridgway: 1 very muech appreciate these sessions with wou. It's been a per-
gonal pleasure apd, of course, a duty whilech I felt obliped fo agree to~—
to say what I think. i want to repeabt once more that there may be consid-
erable variance between what I say now and what the documents wight prove,
but you heve the wight, privilege, and opportunity to check and document
the accuracy of what I have sald. I hope you will do that, if there is any
P2ge deivrmined (e be Unclassified
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doubt in your mind. I say again that 1t's been my great honor to have
served in the Army. It's been a high privilege to have had the high
pests I have had.

Matloff: I'm sure that the record will show that yours has been a very
leong and distinguished career that will certalnly have its place in hig~
tory. Anyone writing about thils period will have to take it into
account.

Ridgway: That's very kind of you. I feel very deeply about these things.
Every one of my assignments was carrled out always with the principle of
doing one's utmost to understand the problems from sll angles, to arrive
at logical conclusions, and then fearlessly to say what one thought. I
would come back to that again.

Matloff: Thank you vexry much, General.

Ridgway: Thank you, Doctor, & great pleasure.
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GengraL M. B. Ribgway
818 WALDHEIM ROAD W., FOY CHAPEL
PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA 15215%

10 Aug 8d o
Dear Dr. Goldbexg,

I returm herewith Firdt & Final tramscripts of the two
interviews of me conducted by Dr. Maurice Matleff on 18 &
19 AprilwB4, received here on 06 August, I have reviewed
both with great care,

In the many offficial and personal interviews I have
had over many veaxs, I have never seem a finer transeript
than Dr. Matloff has produced,

I have made omnly a very few corrections as noted and
infitaikled on the margims,

It is deeply gratifying to hpve such a detailed and
precise record of what I said and what I believe to be
true, and I place no restrictions whatever on any use you
or Dr. Matloff may care to make of the entire text,

Would yvou kindly let Dr. Matlofdf see this letter, zmd
tell him of my high regard for him and his talents

I assume that a like interview of Admiral Carmey will
take place, if it has ndt already occurred, and if both
he and you approve I would be grad¢é¢ful”te have a copy in
due tipe,

May I also eupress my appreciaticn of the fregdom

granted me to edit; delete, add, and correct thé ranscripis,
With great respect,
Ancerelly
% .;;‘
Encl - Return receipt M. B, Rid A\
postcard, General, Axrmy

Retired,

Dr. Alfred Goldberg, Historian
Office of the Secretary of Defense
Adminstration, Room 3D 839
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